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THISPROCEEDING WAS CONDUCTED BY TELEPHONE CONFERENCE

HIS HONOUR: Yes, Dr Higgins.

DR R. HIGGINS SC: May it please the court, | agpeith my learned friend, Mr
Fortumalik for the plaintiffs.

HIS HONOUR: Thank you. Before you commence tlagsejust a number of
matters that | need to make clear and an ordentdeds to be made. So | will just
go through those matters now and then we will lgear submissions.

DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour.

HIS HONOUR: The first is I'm going to make an ergpursuant to section 17
subsection 4 of the Federal Court of Australia 2276 and before doing so just
make it clear that the court notes that sectiod)1@{ the Federal Court of Australia
Act 1976 requires that a jurisdiction of the cdugtexercised at open court but that
section 17 subsection 4 of the Act allows for thélj to be excluded if the court is
satisfied that their presence would be contrampéointerests of justice. The courts
must balance the importance of this matter beirsgcdheow and determined in — and
in open justice. Justice requires the hearingetbdmrd now and that it should not be
delayed indefinitely pending the end of the currerdl pandemic.

The best practical arrangements in the circumstahaee been put in place to allow
interested members of the public and the presbderge or listen to the hearing.
These arrangements are identified in paragraphtieodrders | propose to make. It
would be contrary to the interests of justice for public to have access to the
hearing other than in accordance with the arrangésibat are in the order because
the result would be to have the hearing deferrddfinitely. Therefore, the court
makes the following orders:

(1) Pursuant to section 17 subsection 4 of the Acpth#ic be excluded from
this hearing listed at 10.15 on Friday, 24 ApriRQM®ther than via the
following arrangements:

a. Any member of the public is able to join the hegriia the Microsoft
Teams platform providing an email address to tiseaate of
Middleton J as stipulated in the court notice afqaredings.

b. Any member of the public is able to listen to tleating via the
Microsoft Teams platform by dialling the number dbdallocated to
the hearing published on the court list.
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(2) Members of the public other than the media repteseas who attend the
hearing via the methods in paragraph (1) of theders do so on condition
that they are:

a. permitted to observe and listen to the hearingabeiin no
circumstances permitted to participate in the megri

b. prohibited from making any recording or photograpieicord of the
hearing or any part thereof by any means whatspeeu

c. advised that any failure to observe conditionsnd.la may constitute
a contempt of court and be punishable as such.

The second matter | need to raise is to make a auofldisclosures. | have
purchased pre-flight tickets from Virgin which doebe — the flight to be taken in
July of this year. On the authority of Communitgv2lopment Pty Ltd v Engwirda
Construction Co [1969] HCA 47; 120 CLR 455, parlaly the statements of Kitto
J at page 459 and a later case of Deputy Commessajrmaxation v Casualife
Furniture International Pty Ltd [2004] VSC 157,VR 549, a decision of 17 May
2004 of Hansen J, relevantly, at paragraph 44 Xf@wving, it would appear that |
could be a contingent creditor.

At the moment, | understand that flight credits saée but | should firstly disclose
that and indicate that if it comes a matter whertilay crystallises in any way then |
will abandon that claim so that will solve the pieshh of my being a contingent
creditor or actual creditor if that be the casdhanbasis of that authority it would
seem that | am. Secondly, | do have some Velgotgts under the Velocity
frequent flyer program, but | don’t think that’s teaal but in any event, that
company is excised, | think, from the administratio

DR HIGGINS: That's correct, your Honour.

HIS HONOUR: And the third thing is that | am ammer of the Virgin Club.
Again, | don't see that as impacting at all upogtaimg that will transpire in this
case but | thought | should put those matters emébord so that if anything
transpires later that becomes litigious with oihégrested parties that position is on
the record. Could | just — the third thing | wathte mention is that whilst | have
been allocated to hear the applications that aus®f the administration everybody
should be mindful that this matter is still in tNew South Wales registry so to the
extent to which it becomes at all relevant we stidaglep in mind that New South
Wales law applies.

As I've just indicated, this matter has been alleddo the docket of the National
Operations Registrar to be managed by myself tbezeéll applications are to be
listed before me and communications made with nsp@ate. But depending on
how this matter transpires and depending on whalicgtions are made other judges

.NSD464/2020 24.4.20 P-3
©Commonwealth of Australia DR HIGGINS



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

of this court are obviously available to hear nratedter consultation with the Chief
Justice if that is appropriate to do so.

We cannot anticipate what will occur in the futaefar as the course of this
administration but there may be matters involvimgliectual property law,
industrial law, competition law, and the Federau@tas many judges who can
assist in determining any disputes that may aniseparticular area of speciality. |
need say no more about that; it will depend upemiature of any further
applications and the circumstances and we will nedxt flexible in that regard and,
as you know, the court will be.

Could I then just indicate that in view of the pabhterest in this matter the court
has established an online file into which documeatsbe placed and will be placed
if the court considers them to be suitable for asd®y members of the public or
media. So far as the documents that have beeh fitdess you tell me otherwise |
see no reason why obviously the originating appbeoathe two affidavits in support
and the submissions made in support of this agmircéoday should not be made
publicly available, and they will be put on the ddile. This is the only way
documents will be viewed by third parties; apgimas for access to documents at
the court’s registry are therefore unnecessary.

As | have alluded to already, this proceeding isigdo be conducted by remote
access technology and open to the public as | ilaleated in my orders. On this
particular day | have allowed the media outleteetmord sound and vision for their
own purposes. This may not be the case in allegipins depending upon the
nature of them and it will be determined on a dagease basis. The court will
subsequently upload a recording of this hearingitwdl be put on the court’s
online file. And just the other thing | want to nten is that obviously this is going
to be a complex administration but as far as thetqmoceedings are concerned we
should still try and adhere to what the legislatiequires in section 37M of the
Federal Court of Australia Act.

That is to deal with matters quickly, inexpensivahd as efficiently as possible. |
will be expecting the cooperation of any interveapmterested party to be had with
the administrators and the court and this is maattiex any event by the Federal
Court of Australia Act. Now, Dr Higgins, having dethose comments and that
order | should just indicate to you | have haddpportunity of reading your outline
of submissions, I've had an opportunity of readimg minute of order and the two
affidavits in the originating process but | wilt iou, obviously, present what you
wish me to do today in a way in which you thinlagpropriate.

DR HIGGINS: Thank you, your Honour. Can | bebinidentifying all of the
materials upon which we rely and certain docum#raswill need to be provided
from the solicitors. So if | could first identityre originating process that this file is
..... As your Honour appreciates we rely upon.an Vaughan Neil Strawbridge .....
to observe the benefit - - -
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HIS HONOUR: Hang on. Stop. Sorry, Dr Higginsy having slight difficulty
hearing you in a sense of it just breaking uptkeltit. Let's see if we can fix that.

DR HIGGINS: Can your Honour hear me more cleadw?
HIS HONOUR: | now can; that's much better.

DR HIGGINS: Thank you, your Honour. | will stag close to the microphone as |
can, your Honour.

HIS HONOUR: Thank you.

DR HIGGINS: Where the plaintiffs made an origingtprocess filed on 23 April
2020 in support of that rely upon the affidavitd#ughan Neil Strawbridge dated 23
April 2020. Your Honour will have observed thanisw ..... That the permissibility
of that in the present circumstances is contemglayeparagraph 4.2 of the Special
Measures Information Note ..... 31 March 2020. Yuir Honour should also .....
inspecting at 6.59 pm stating that he swears twatontents of his affidavit are true
and correct and are particular. Your Honour, megad that affidavit and tender the
exhibit VNS as two volumes?

HIS HONOUR: Yes. The court will receive that evl. Thank you.

DR HIGGINS: ..... been provided with a hard cabyhat exhibit because ......

HIS HONOUR: Yes.

DR HIGGINS: Your Honour, there is also a secofifidavit of Vaughan Neil
Strawbridge of 24 April 2020. Has your Honour beeovided with a copy?

HIS HONOUR: And you will need to — sorry. Dr Higs, you will need to keep
close to that microphone I'm afraid.

DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour. There is also pamentary affidavit of
Vaughan Neil Strawbridge of 24 April 2020, does iyblonour have that?

HIS HONOUR: | do.
DR HIGGINS: ..... brief addition after it andvifll also mean that .....
HIS HONOUR: Yes.

DR HIGGINS: Your Honour should also have receigedaffidavit of Kassandra
Adams dated 24 April 2020.

HIS HONOUR: [I've just received that, | think.
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DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour. Thank you. Thahtains material relevant to
the fact that this part of the proceeding is tateducted ex parte. So it contains
materials received from creditors and others thigho be before the court ..... this
application.

HIS HONOUR: All right.

DR HIGGINS: .....

HIS HONOUR: | may just take the opportunity tovba quick read of that, Dr
Higgins. And I'm told here if you have a microploit will assist. Do you — you

must have a microphone there | take it?

DR HIGGINS: [ do, your Honour. I'm going throudiiee microphone on my
computer, but | will try to get a head set to finate.

HIS HONOUR: All right. That may be better.

DR HIGGINS: Yes.

HIS HONOUR: Whilst you're doing that | will haxaeread of Ms Adams’ affidavit.
All right. I've had a look at the relevant parfstioat, | think. One issue seems to

arise in relation to 443B of the Corporations Act.

DR HIGGINS: That is the ....., your Honour andvill be necessary for the rest of
the court to note.

HIS HONOUR: All right. We will come back to thathen you deal with that
particular topic. Thank you.

DR HIGGINS: Your Honour should also recently haseeived an affidavit of
Matthew Carr dated 24 April 2020 which is an affidaf service.

HIS HONOUR: Yes, | have that.
DR HIGGINS: ..... also read that affidavit, yddonour.

HIS HONOUR: Yes, | see. So that’s an — yes.idaffit of service of various
people. All right. Thank you.

DR HIGGINS: Yes. The two final documents whiauy Honour has received are
the proposed short minutes of order. They confeurbject to certain ..... directions
..... which require the hearing to be conducted3 @oday.

HIS HONOUR: Yes.
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DR HIGGINS: And finally, as your Honour has aligaalluded to, we provided an
outline of withess submissions dated 24 April 2020.

HIS HONOUR: Yes.

DR HIGGINS: Your Honour has indicated that thertdas an opportunity to read
the witness evidence.

HIS HONOUR: Yes. | think the most efficient wetydeal with this at the moment,
Dr Higgins, is to, perhaps, deal with the issued thhave need for more assistance
on which | will raise with you and, as | have inatied, all this material will be
available to the public.

DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour.

HIS HONOUR: | have gone through it in preparationthis initial hearing and |
will give some reasons for the orders that | makéhsat it is made clear the way in
which | propose to proceed. The first matter thaanted to deal with was — if you
look at your submissions under the issue of holdmegtings by electronic means,
the orders you seek in 3 and 4 of the originatirag@ss — and this deals with the
issue of the place of the meeting — and | just veoad whether or not there was a
quicker way home to dealing with this particulaolgem? And let me just explain —
I've just been given notes about how I'm not toffleipapers; it makes it hard to
hear me.

Let me just explain my thinking. If the law reqesra place then the place would be
where the administrators are conducting the me¢tiegselves, that is, where they
are and then everybody comes into that place bgldatronic means. So my initial
thinking is that there is a place; so the meesngpnvened at a time and place. The
time being designated, the place being where therastrators would be — their
offices presumably — and then we make orders atiogl to electronic means.

So it — I would, sort of, see it the same way ssd what we’re doing now. The
court is sitting in 305 William Street, Melbournedal am here sitting here
conducting a hearing which just happens to be cciedlby people at various other
places who are connecting into me. So would tlwakwr not, or is that not right?

DR HIGGINS: Your Honour, at paragraph 21 of théten submissions we have
canvassed a similar construction at section 75ubSexction 1(a) and the ..... that's

HIS HONOUR: Yes. Well, | thought that's what yere probably getting to but
then when | looked at the orders | wondered if thveye unnecessarily complicated.
Let me go through — so let’s take 4. So pursuatiié Corporations Act or the
IVSC, the first plaintiff be permitted to hold mewgs of creditors during the
administration of each of the plaintiffs by teleplecor audio-visual conference only
and in place of a physical meeting. And that'slyaghat I'm wondering whether
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we need to worry about that because the noticesagpm time and a place being the
offices of the administrators presumably, could?t

DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour, it could.

HIS HONOUR: And then you have the facility to kaaverybody come into that
meeting by the various ways of it going it. ThatuMl mean we get over any
problem of people worrying about whether we nepthae in various areas that's
all.

DR HIGGINS: With respect, your Honour, yes. Teens of the proposed order
were with an abundance of caution with the optlat t....

HIS HONOUR: | haven’t got a copy, have I1? | haveseen a copy of the proposed
notice convening the meeting.

DR HIGGINS: The notice is in the exhibits to tfédavit, your Honour.

HIS HONOUR: Isit? All right. Well, | haven'tane through all those in sufficient
detail obviously. What does that notice say?

DR HIGGINS: If your Honour has the — ..... exhibi.. consent - - -

HIS HONOUR: Yes. I can find it on my — well, wihdoes it — before | go to that,
what does it say about where the meeting is toela?h

DR HIGGINS: It currently says, your Honour, vistumeeting only in
corresponding locations.

HIS HONOUR: Well, I don’t think we have to calla virtual meeting. It's a real
meeting at a place where the administrators avatsl and then everybody can join
electronically at a meeting.

DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour.

HIS HONOUR: And that would solve the problem, Wt it?

DR HIGGINS: With respect, yes.

HIS HONOUR: Allright. Can I get you to revantose orders then to deal with it
that way?

DR HIGGINS: Of course, your Honour. Does youmidor want briefly in the
context ..... meeting then - - -

HIS HONOUR: Yes. That may be a good idea.
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DR HIGGINS: Your Honour will find it behind tal29n volume 2.
HIS HONOUR: All right. Just hold on one second.
DR HIGGINS: Your Honour should also look at tabwhich is the initial .....

HIS HONOUR: Well, if you follow my way of thinkiopyou would have to alter
that.

DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour, | believe that's sbhe location is specified as
the premise of the administrators if that is .....

HIS HONOUR: Yes. Well, that’s all you've got ¢, | think; the rest follows.
DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour.

HIS HONOUR: All right. Well, I'm happy with that that’'s the way you proceed
so change the notice accordingly and change ther sadthat the place will be the
physical meeting place and then the other ordeitéde it to be done by joining the
meeting in the way in which you have suggested.

DR HIGGINS: May it please the court.

HIS HONOUR: All right. So that was the first rreat| had concern about. | don’t
have concern, | must say, about extending timesttaen, | think, the main concern
is the issue of section 443B.

DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour, that’s so.

HIS HONOUR: All right. Well, firstly, | do not dwve difficulty as a matter of
principle in the circumstances of this case in mglan order under that provision
extending the personal liability aspects of the mistrators. The issue seems to be
how long and then whether there is a carve outtH’amjust observing what is said
in the correspondence that has come — that youstehanded up in the latest
affidavit. So would you like to address those ésstor me first and see how we go?

DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour. As your Honourieipates, there are two
issues. There are the terms or conditions on wéuch an order ought be made in
this time period. The application currently setfegt the order be made ..... and
subject to conditions. Can | indicate to your Hanby way of background — which
your Honour may already appreciate — the aspedtien@ are objected to .....
convention. That is a convention of the Internadidnsurance ..... equipment.

Both the ..... convention and its associatedare.incorporated into Australian law

by international interests and ..... 2013. Pathefnumber that ..... deals with the
moratorium is C. It relevantly provides that ugba occurrence ..... the insolvency
..... the insolvency administrator regulations aggtile shall, subject to paragraph .....
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of the ..... no later than the ..... first, the efidhe waiting period and ..... the
additional ..... creditor be entitled to possessibabject at the item of the .....
Australian relevant jurisdiction will apply ....uball ..... in the insolvency
proceeding ..... upon the period for the purposesticle .....

Relevantly, those provisions ..... moratorium iotem 443B of the Corporations
Act.

The first point is therefore that notice .....hattthe plaintiff has the period of 28-day
extension which is the equivalent of 35 days frben¢commencement .....
appointmentandis a ..... 60 days under theConvention. So what the plaintiff's
intention is that ..... It would appear that thieaee been difficulty — ..... has
revisited to put together this ..... If Virgin...especially things that have to do .....
assets particularly. If your Honour brings up #fidavit of .....

HIS HONOUR: Yes.

DR HIGGINS: ..... shorthand to page 21 of theoact

HIS HONOUR: Yes.

DR HIGGINS: Your Honour sees there administrdmmes Alexa.
HIS HONOUR: Yes.

DR HIGGINS: And your Honour will also see that. .at page ..... of the annexure
that ..... analysis in respect of the subject matte

HIS HONOUR: Yes.

DR HIGGINS: If your Honour turns through to numée — to paragraph 6 of that
letter - - -

HIS HONOUR: Yes.

DR HIGGINS: - --and number 7 and following, yddonour will see that the
absence of an objection to the application witlpees on the part of those affected
entities is subject to the protocol where specified

HIS HONOUR: |see. So on the basis — there’'shjection on the basis of
protocol as adhered to — and is the protocol gtortge adhered to by your — is that
what you're telling me?

DR HIGGINS: Itis notyet..... your Honour. \WWave not yet had an opportunity
fully to consider the details of that proposal @ndtocol and for reasons of exigency
we have received that very recently as did thecedteentities receive those ..... here.
And we can't .....
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HIS HONOUR: Well, let me just see if | can cutdbgh to where we'’re at. And |
understand there’s a moving feast in relation és¢hmatters. This order that I'm
making in relation to section 443B is subject taat#on, is it not?

DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour, it is.

HIS HONOUR: What | was thinking whilst | was régl this is that if it’s still in
negotiation mode, if there is an opportunity toytre order by the interested parties
knowing full well that this hearing is on today datne material and the
administrators know that if | do make the ordes isubject to variation so they
understand that is the position. So it's not urtlathem to give them something that
absolutely and take it away from them because khey they haven't got an
absolutely.

DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour.

HIS HONOUR: Then if it turns out that one inteegsparty wants a variation, or a
condition put on it by the court then they can apgh me at any time; that’'s what
I’'m here for. So that's where I’'m currently mindexgo, | must say, Dr Higgins,
and presumably, you're not going to dissuade mm fitwat at this stage.

DR HIGGINS: That was the course | was, with respgoing to propose, your
Honour. It is critical from the administration pbiof view that these orders be made
today under section 443B the administrators musgtenaadetermination facilitating
..... exercise the rights ..... 27 April.

HIS HONOUR: Yes.

DR HIGGINS: So it is definitely critical that tee be made for the administration
but, with respect, it is appropriate that the mdierelisted ..... affected party .....
your Honour.

HIS HONOUR: Yes. Well, your paragraph 11 sayd #ny party who has a
sufficient interest — and those who have put tleeqmol forward have a sufficient
interest — can apply to discharge the order. Itrsag, just looking at proposed order
11, I won’t put it on three days business notite, really going to put it on one

day’s business notice. People will have to moveldy | think, and as will the

court. If anyone needs more time then they camydvgpeak to my chambers and
say, look, adjourn it over to tomorrow or whatekat three days could be a bit long
by the time we get the — people get to the court.

DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour, we do.
HIS HONOUR: So I don'’t think | need to hear anytler, Dr Higgins. | am

prepared to make the order in the terms in whiahseek it for the time you seek it
on the basis — and this is — everyone will be &blgear or read what | say — that if
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an interested party wishes to vary any of the @;daut that one in particular, they
can approach the court and it will be dealt witls@sn as possible.

DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour.

HIS HONOUR: | did not have any difficulty, basedon the material, in making
the other orders that you sought. Is there angtthat you need to bring to my
attention that | need to specifically take noti€¢hat would be something you would
normally have to bring to my attention on ex papelication?

DR HIGGINS: Your Honour, my understanding is tatthe material of that
nature is annexed to the affidavit of Ms Adams.

HIS HONOUR: Yes. Yes. And including the dectama of independence?
DR HIGGINS: Yes.

HIS HONOUR: Yes. Allright. Well, nothing furéih you wish to say at the
moment, Dr Higgins?

DR HIGGINS: Subject to receiving instructionsgantum, your Honour, there’s
nothing further | wanted to say.

HIS HONOUR: Do you need any time for that or yeujetting immediate
electronic instructions?

DR HIGGINS: | am getting immediate electronictmstions but if your Honour
would give me five minutes to confirm that ....neent.

HIS HONOUR: | will.
DR HIGGINS: | believe | have nothing further, yddonour.

HIS HONOUR: All right. Well, | propose to makieet orders that have been
provided subject to the change that you make atigal to — | think it's just 4 and 5
about the place of the meeting. So | don'’t thit&kvery hard to change that order:
permitted to hold the meeting of creditors by tal@me or audio-visual at — and in
that set the place down, and then with such arraergés as best, | think, follows.

DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour.

HIS HONOUR: And if you make those arrangemerasilhappy for that change in
order 11 to one business day.

DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour.

.NSD464/2020 24.4.20 P-12
©Commonwealth of Australia DR HIGGINS



10

15

20

25

30

HIS HONOUR: And just for my sake, if you wouldmtind whilst you're re-
engrossing the orders, | think probably in ordefter Corporations Act there needs
a definition of the Corporations Act because wealeéined everything else.

DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour.

HIS HONOUR: And I'm not a great fan of the andgorif you just look at order 3
you will see, firstly, pursuant to section 447Atlé Corporations and — take away
further or alternatively — I will rely upon both tifose provisions.

DR HIGGINS: Yes, your Honour.

HIS HONOUR: The same in order 4; the same iriobdand the same in order 6.
And you will see in order 9 — same in order 7 dr@lgame in order 8, and you will
see in order 9 there’s the same issue further kewhatively, and there is also
pursuant to section 443B subsection 8 and/or putsand, take away the -or please.
Other than that, | propose to make the order ihfthran so as soon as you can get
that to me | will make it and it will be availakie the public online immediately so
that there will be access to the full terms ofdhger which are now pronounced.

DR HIGGINS: ..... able to do that, ..... your kboin.

HIS HONOUR: Allright. And as | said, | will pxade reasons for the orders which
will also be put online for those who are interdgte know the full basis of my
making those orders but, in summary, it is forrgesons that are set forward in the
affidavits of the administrator and in your subruss.

DR HIGGINS: May it please the court.

HIS HONOUR: All right. If there’s nothing moreeawill now adjourn the court.
The court is now adjourned.

MATTER ADJOURNED at 11.00 am ACCORDINGLY
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